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COUNTER-STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

  

 Petitioner Maureen Faulkner, the widow of deceased Philadelphia police of-

ficer Daniel Faulkner, has filed a petition requesting this Court to grant King’s 

Bench jurisdiction and disqualify the Philadelphia District Attorney’s Office from 

prosecuting this case and order the matter referred to the Pennsylvania Attorney 

General. The Philadelphia District Attorney respectfully opposes Mrs. Faulkner’s 

petition. 

 In 1982, defendant Wesley Cook, a/k/a/ Mumia Abu-Jamal, was convicted 

of first-degree murder and possessing an instrument of crime and sentenced to 

death in connection with the shooting death of Officer Faulkner. Defendant Cook’s 

judgment of sentence was affirmed by this Court.  

 In the ensuing years, Defendant Cook filed four PCRA petitions, each of 

which was denied by the PCRA court, and in each case the dismissal of the petition 

was affirmed by this Court. Defendant Cook’s death sentence was eventually va-

cated by the federal courts due to an instructional error at the penalty hearing. Alt-

hough it could have pursued a death sentence at a new penalty hearing, the Com-

monwealth, which was then represented by a different district attorney in Philadel-

phia, elected not to pursue the death penalty. Accordingly, Defendant Cook was 

sentenced to life imprisonment for his first-degree murder conviction. 
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 In August of 2016, Defendant Cook filed a fifth PCRA petition. Relying on 

a recent United States Supreme Court case, Williams v. Pennsylvania, 136 S.Ct. 

1899 (2016), Defendant Cook claimed he was entitled to reinstatement of his 

PCRA appellate rights from the dismissal of his four prior PCRA petitions. De-

fendant Cook argued reinstatement of his PCRA appellate rights was warranted 

because Justice Castille had served as the district attorney of Philadelphia during 

his direct appeal and had later declined to recuse himself from considering the 

PCRA appeals. The current Philadelphia District Attorney, Lawrence S. Krasner, 

acting on behalf of the Commonwealth, opposed Defendant Cook’s request for 

PCRA relief. Nevertheless, the PCRA court (the Honorable Leon W. Tucker) rein-

stated Defendant Cook’s PCRA appellate rights from the dismissal of his four prior 

PCRA petitions. Defendant Cook’s nunc pro tunc appeal from the dismissal of his 

first four PCRA petitions is currently pending before the Superior Court. 

 On September 3, 2019, Defendant Cook filed his appellate brief in the Supe-

rior Court for his reinstated appeals. On that same date, he also filed a motion for a 

remand to the PCRA court to consider what he contends is newly-discovered evi-

dence, specifically a number of documents his attorneys found while reviewing a 

portion of the Commonwealth’s file in this case. The Commonwealth subsequently 

filed a response to Defendant Cook’s motion stating it did not oppose a remand to 
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the PCRA court so the documents could be presented to that court for its review.1 

On September 23, 2019, the Superior Court deferred decision on Defendant Cook’s 

motion to the panel assigned to decide the merits of his appeal.2 

 On September 18, 2019, before the Superior Court issued its order regarding 

Defendant Cook’s motion for a remand to the PCRA court, Mrs. Faulkner filed a 

Petition for Intervention in the Superior Court. In her petition, Mrs. Faulkner asked 

the Superior Court to remove the Philadelphia District Attorney’s Office from the 

case and replace it with the Attorney General’s Office. Mrs. Faulkner claimed that 

removal of the District Attorney’s Office was necessary because the Office sup-

posedly faces conflicts of interest that prevent it from properly representing the 

Commonwealth’s interests in this case. The Commonwealth filed a response in the 

Superior Court opposing Mrs. Faulkner’s request.3 On October 10, 2019, the Supe-

rior Court denied Mrs. Faulkner’s petition. Mrs. Faulkner did not seek permission 

to appeal the Superior Court’s denial of her petition to this Court. 

                                            
1  A copy of the Commonwealth’s response to Defendant Cook’s motion for a 

remand to the PCRA court to consider the newly-discovered evidence is attached 

as Exhibit A.  
 
2  The Commonwealth has not yet filed its brief as appellee in the Superior 

Court. The Commonwealth’s brief is currently due December 2, 2019; however, 

the Commonwealth has filed a request seeking a sixty-day extension of time to file 

its brief.   

 
3  Defendant Cook also filed a response to Mrs. Faulkner’s petition. 
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 On November 12, 2019, Mrs. Faulkner filed this petition for King’s Bench 

jurisdiction, to which the Philadelphia District Attorney hereby responds. 
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ARGUMENT 

THIS COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION FOR KING’S BENCH 

JURISDICTION. 

 

 Petitioner Faulkner asks this Court to grant King’s Bench jurisdiction and 

remove the Philadelphia District Attorney’s Office from this case, which is cur-

rently on appeal before the Superior Court, and replace it with the Attorney Gen-

eral’s Office. Petitioner Faulkner contends removal of the Philadelphia District At-

torney’s Office is necessary because of alleged conflicts of interest the Office has 

that supposedly prevent it from properly representing the Commonwealth’s inter-

ests.  

 Mrs. Faulkner’s counseled petition contains a number of significant mis-

statements with respect to the Philadelphia District Attorney’s Office and why its 

removal from this case, and replacement by the Attorney General’s Office, is sup-

posedly necessary. In fact, there is no basis for removing the Philadelphia District 

Attorney’s Office; nor is there any reason for this Court to exercise King’s Bench 

jurisdiction and disrupt the proceedings currently ongoing in the Superior Court. 

Accordingly, the petition for King’s Bench jurisdiction should be denied.  
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A. King’s Bench Jurisdiction is not Appropriate in this Matter. 

 

 This Court’s King’s Bench jurisdiction “should be exercised with extreme 

caution.” Commonwealth v. Williams, 129 A.3d 1199, 1207 (Pa. 2015). This spe-

cial authority “is generally invoked to review an issue of public importance that re-

quires timely intervention by the court of last resort to avoid the deleterious effects 

arising from delays incident to the ordinary process of law.” Id. at 1206. It should 

not be invoked where there were other means by which the petitioner could have 

had her complaints heard. See In re Bruno, 101 A.3d 635, 670 (Pa. 2014) (the pur-

pose of this Court’s King’s Bench jurisdiction is not to encourage or allow persons 

to avoid other, already existing procedures for adjudicating their complaints); 

Commonwealth v. Fahy, 737 A.2d 214, 224 (Pa. 1999) (rejecting the defendant’s 

attempt to have his PCRA petition reviewed under the Court’s King’s Bench juris-

diction).  

 In criminal matters, this Court’s King’s Bench jurisdiction is most appropri-

ate where the issue involved goes beyond a single case and implicates the criminal 

justice system on a broader scale, thereby affecting a large number of persons in-

volved in the system. See, e.g., Gass v. 52nd Judicial District, Lebanon County, 

2019 WL 5588926 (Pa., Oct. 30, 2019) (granting King’s Bench jurisdiction in case 

brought on behalf of all probationers affected by policy prohibiting the use of med-

ical marijuana while under county supervision); Commonwealth v. Williams, supra 
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(granting King’s Bench jurisdiction in a case challenging the governor’s death-

penalty moratorium, which affects all of the defendants on Pennsylvania’s death 

row); The Philadelphia Community Bail Fund, et al v. Arraignment Court Magis-

trates of the First Judicial District, 21 EM 2019 (Pa. July 8, 2019) (exercising 

King’s Bench jurisdiction to review alleged systemic failures in administering cash 

bail in Philadelphia); In re J.V.R., 81 MM 2008 (Pa. Feb. 11, 2009) (exercising 

King’s Bench jurisdiction over the Luzerne County “kids for cash” scandal).  

 While King’s Bench jurisdiction is sometimes invoked by this Court with 

respect to a single criminal case, it is usually granted in those cases in order to con-

serve judicial resources, to expedite the criminal proceedings, and to provide guid-

ance to the lower courts regarding a question that is likely to recur. E.g. Common-

wealth v. Martorano, 634 A.2d 1063, 1067 n. 6 (Pa. 1993); Commonwealth v. 

Lang, 537 A.2d 1361, 1363 (Pa. 1988). 

 In this case, there are no special factors that warrant this Court’s exercise of 

its King’s Bench jurisdiction. Petitioner Faulkner contends that removal of the 

Philadelphia District Attorney’s Office from the case is necessary due to alleged 

conflicts of interest harbored by the office. Almost all of the alleged facts that sup-

posedly show these conflicts of interest were known or knowable to Mrs. Faulkner 

while the case was pending in the PCRA court. Mrs. Faulkner, however, did not 

file a motion in the PCRA court seeking removal of the District Attorney’s Office. 
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That would have been the appropriate time to raise the alleged conflicts of interest. 

See Commonwealth v. Williams, 980 A.2d 510, 521 (Pa. 2009) (appellant’s claim 

that his attorney labored under a conflict of interest was waived where he could 

have raised the alleged conflict earlier but failed to do so).  

 Mrs. Faulkner did file a petition for intervention in the Superior Court where 

she raised some of these alleged conflicts of interest. The Superior Court denied 

that petition. Mrs. Faulkner did not attempt to appeal the Superior Court’s denial of 

her petition to this Court. Instead, she waited until 33 days had passed from the 

Superior Court’s denial of her petition and then filed this King’s Bench petition. 

Because Petitioner Faulkner had earlier opportunities to raise the alleged conflicts 

of interest but failed to advance her claims then, she should not be permitted to 

raise the conflicts now through this Court’s exercise of its special King’s Bench 

jurisdiction.  

 Additionally, this is not the type of matter where King’s Bench jurisdiction 

would be appropriate. The Philadelphia District Attorney recognizes the extreme 

pain Mrs. Faulkner has endured as a result of the murder of her husband and the 

seemingly never-ending legal proceedings that have prevented this case from com-

ing to a close. This case, like every murder case, is an important one. However, 

this matter involves a single defendant, and the relevant circumstances (or at least 

the alleged relevant circumstances) are unique to this matter. This simply is not a 
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situation where this Court’s exercise of its King’s Bench jurisdiction will resolve 

an issue that affects many involved in the criminal justice system or that will pro-

vide guidance to the lesser courts regarding an issue that is likely to recur.  

 Nor will the exercise of King’s Bench jurisdiction save judicial resources or 

expedite a final resolution of the case, something desired by both Mrs. Faulkner 

and the Philadelphia District Attorney. Granting King’s Bench jurisdiction will ac-

tually do the opposite. It will prolong the matter and disrupt the appellate proceed-

ings that are already well underway. 

 Finally, and as will be demonstrated at length below, the reasons advanced 

by Mrs. Faulkner’s attorneys for disqualifying the District Attorney’s Office are 

largely based on mischaracterizations (and sometimes outright misrepresentations) 

of the relevant facts. When the overblown and inaccurate representations made by 

Mrs. Faulkner’s attorneys are seen for what they are, it becomes evident that this 

petition stems from nothing more than a disagreement between Mrs. Faulkner and 

the District Attorney’s Office over a strategic decision that was made by the Of-

fice. 

 There are no special reasons for this Court to grant King’s Bench jurisdic-

tion over this case, and on that basis alone, the petition should be denied.  
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B. There are no Grounds for Disqualifying the Philadelphia 

District Attorney’s Office from this Case. 

 

 Even if this Court were to consider the merits of Mrs. Faulkner’s petition, 

there would be no basis for granting the relief she seeks: removal of the District 

Attorney’s Office from the case.  

1. The Commonwealth Attorneys Act. 

 

Mrs. Faulkner contends that this Court should remove the Philadelphia Dis-

trict Attorney’s Office from this case and replace it with the Attorney General’s 

Office. According to her attorneys, such a result is required by the Commonwealth 

Attorneys Act, specifically 71 P.S. § 732-205 (King’s Bench Petition, 24). Mrs. 

Faulkner’s attorneys are wrong.  

 The powers of the Attorney General are “strictly a matter of legislative des-

ignation and enumeration.” Commonwealth v. Carsia, 517 A.2d 956, 958 (Pa. 

1986). Accordingly, “the attorney general may intervene in criminal prosecutions 

only in accordance with provisions enumerated by the legislature.” Commonwealth 

v. Briggs, 12 A.3d 291, 328 (Pa. 2011).  Those provisions are set forth in the 

Commonwealth Attorneys Act, 71 P.S. § 732-205.  

 This case is presently on appeal before the Superior Court. The Common-

wealth Attorneys Act states that “[i]n any criminal action in which there is an ap-

peal, the Attorney General may in his discretion, upon the request of the district 
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attorney, prosecute the appeal; he may intervene in such other appeals as provided 

by law or rules of court.” 71 P.S. § 732-205(c) (emphasis added).  

 Here, the District Attorney has not asked the Attorney General to prosecute 

the appeal (there is no reason for him to do so), and there is no other basis for the 

Attorney General to intervene in the case. Accordingly, the Attorney General has 

no authority to prosecute the present appeal. See Commonwealth v. Carsia, supra 

(the Attorney General had no authority to prosecute the charges against the de-

fendant where such authority was not expressly granted in the Commonwealth At-

torneys Act); see also Commonwealth v. Khorey, 555 A.2d 100, 109 (Pa. 1989) (in 

the absence of a valid request from the district attorney, the attorney general lacked 

the authority to conduct the prosecution).  

2. The alleged conflicts of interest. 

 

 Mrs. Faulkner’s attorneys claim that removal of the District Attorney’s Of-

fice is necessary because “high ranking officials from the [Office]—including the 

District Attorney himself—suffer from undeniable personal conflicts of interest 

which are so obvious and so incendiary that the Office’s continued representation 

of the Commonwealth all but guarantees a biased and unjust adjudication of [this] 

case” (King’s Bench Petition, 2). This is a gross mischaracterization. 
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a. Paul M. George, Esquire. 

 

 Mrs. Faulkner’s attorneys identify only a single attorney in the District At-

torney’s Office who has a personal conflict of interest with respect to this case, and 

even with respect to that individual, they misrepresent the facts.  

Paul M. George, Esquire, is currently a prosecutor in the District Attorney’s 

Office (George Affidavit, ¶ 4).4 Years ago, when Defendant Cook was appealing 

the dismissal of his third PCRA petition, Mr. George served as local counsel on a 

single brief (one among the very many filed in this protracted litigation) filed on 

Defendant Cook’s behalf in this Court (id., ¶¶ 2-3). As Mr. George explains in his 

affidavit, he agreed to serve as Defendant Cook’s “Local Counsel” during the prior 

appeal because his then-existing defense team lacked an attorney who was quali-

fied in Pennsylvania to represent capital defendants, as was Mr. George (id., ¶ 2). 

Mr. George never met with Defendant Cook, he did not formulate any of the ar-

guments presented in the brief, and he did not play any role in strategizing about 

the case or even in writing the brief (id., ¶ 3). He simply read the appellate brief 

after it had been written by Defendant Cook’s other attorneys and, along with one 

of those attorneys, signed his name to it (id.).  

 In any event, even if Mr. George had played an active role in the representa-

tion of Defendant Cook, that would not require disqualification of the District At-

                                            
4  See Affidavit of Paul M. George, Esq., attached as Exhibit B. 
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torney’s Office. As Mr. George further states in his affidavit, since he joined the 

Philadelphia District Attorney’s Office, he has been screened from any participa-

tion in the prosecution of this case (id., ¶ 5). Thus, his prior representation of De-

fendant Cook does not warrant removal of the office from the case. See Common-

wealth v. Wright, 961 A.2d 119, 135-36 (Pa. 2008) (although lawyer who previous-

ly represented defendant, and had met with one of the victims in the context of that 

representation, joined the prosecutor’s office, the office was not disqualified from 

prosecuting the case where the lawyer recused herself from the matter); see also 

Commonwealth v. Ford, 650 A.2d 433, 443 (Pa. 1994) (fact that trial judge became 

district attorney during post-verdict phase of case did not mean conflict of interest 

existed where district attorney screened herself from the case upon taking office); 

Commonwealth v. Faulkner, 595 A.2d 28, 38 (Pa. 1991) (disqualification of prose-

cutor’s office was not required even though the office hired an investigator who 

had been part of the defense team and had discussed the case with defendant on 

several occasions; the investigator did not speak with anyone in the prosecutor’s 

office about the case). 

 Petitioner Faulkner’s attorneys claim that screening Mr. George from the 

prosecution of this matter is not sufficient because, according to them, he is “the 

current head of the Appellate Unit responsible for defending [Defendant Cook’s] 

conviction” (King’s Bench Petition, 2). As Petitioner Faulkner’s attorneys tell it, 
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being “the current head of the Appellate Unit,” or the “Chief of the Appeals Unit,” 

Mr. George is the “immediate supervisor” of the assistant district attorney who has 

been assigned to handle Defendant Cook’s appeal (id. at 2, 16, 19). According to 

Petitioner Faulkner’s attorneys, “[a]s the ADA’s immediate supervisor, George is 

responsible for his performance evaluations, opportunities for promotion, salary 

increases and other fundamental terms of his employment” (id. at 16). 

 The above statements are factually incorrect. As a simple review of the Dis-

trict Attorney’s Office’s public website or any of the hundreds of appellate briefs 

the Office has filed in this Court or the Superior Court since January 2018 shows 

(and would have shown Mrs. Faulkner’s lawyers), Mr. George is not the “head of 

the Appellate Unit,” or the “Chief of the Appeals Unit,” of the District Attorney’s 

Office (King’s Bench Petition, 2, 19).5 Rather, Lawrence J. Goode, Esquire, is the 

head of the Appeals Unit (George Affidavit, ¶ 7). He has served in that role since 

the first week of the current District Attorney’s administration (before that time, 

Mr. Goode served as the long-term Assistant Chief of the Philadelphia District At-

torney’s Office’s Appeals Unit). It is thus Mr. Goode, and not Mr. George, who is 

                                            
5       See Law Division webpage of the Philadelphia District Attorney’s Office’s 

website, https://www.phila.gov/districtattorney/aboutus/divisions/Pages/Law.aspx 

(last visited November 26, 2019), attached as Exhibit C. 

 

https://www.phila.gov/districtattorney/aboutus/divisions/Pages/Law.aspx
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the assigned prosecutor’s “immediate supervisor” (King’s Bench Petition, 16) (see 

George Affidavit, ¶ 7).  

 Mr. George’s title is (and has been since he joined the Office in February, 

2018) the Assistant Supervisor of the District Attorney’s Office’s Law Division 

(George Affidavit, ¶ 6). The Law Division consists of four units: the Appeals Unit, 

PCRA Unit, Federal Litigation Unit, and Civil Litigation Unit (id., ¶ 6). In his role, 

Mr. George is not responsible for the assigned prosecutor’s written performance 

evaluations (id, ¶ 8). It is Mr. Goode, the Supervisor of the Appeals Unit, who is 

responsible for the assigned prosecutor’s written performance evaluations (id.).  

The head of the District Attorney’s Office’s Law Division is Nancy Win-

kelman, Esquire. In terms of handling Defendant Cook’s appeal, the assigned at-

torney reports directly to Ms. Winkelman, who, along with District Attorney Kras-

ner, is ultimately responsible for the brief the Commonwealth will be filing in re-

sponse to Defendant Cook’s pending Superior Court appeal. Nowhere in the 

King’s Bench petition do Petitioner Faulkner’s attorneys claim that Ms. Winkel-

man has any conflict of interest with regard to the appeal (nor does she). 

 In short, as shown above, there is only one attorney in the District Attorney’s 

Office—Mr. George—who has a conflict of interest in regard to Defendant Cook’s 

appeal based on his minimal prior involvement, and he has been screened from the 

case. While Mrs. Faulkner’s attorneys claim the Office must be disqualified be-
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cause it “is full of high ranking attorneys whose conflicts and public statements 

show bias in favor of the defense” (King’s Bench Petition, 11), her attorneys fail to 

back up this assertion. Nowhere in the petition do they identify any “high ranking 

attorney” in the office (id.), other than Mr. George, who has advocated on behalf of 

Defendant Cook.6 

b. Michael Coard, Esquire.  

 Petitioner Faulkner’s attorneys refer to civil rights and criminal defense at-

torney Michael Coard, Esquire. They state that he has publicly asserted that De-

fendant Cook is innocent and years ago posted offensive comments on social me-

dia regarding the shooting of police officers in Dallas, Texas. Mrs. Faulkner’s at-

torneys claim that because Mr. Coard endorsed the District Attorney when he was 

running for office and then served on his transition committee, the District Attor-

ney suffers from a conflict of interest in this case.   

                                            
6  Petitioner Faulkner’s attorneys state that Mr. George’s former law partner, 

Patricia McKinney, Esquire, is currently a supervisor (she is actually an assistant 

supervisor) in the District Attorney’s Office. Mrs. Faulkner’s attorneys, however, 

do not claim that Ms. McKinney herself ever represented Defendant Cook. Further, 

Ms. McKinney is not (and has never been) involved in the prosecution of this case. 

Petitioner Faulkner’s attorneys also point out that, almost 20 years ago, the District 

Attorney’s wife, the Honorable Lisa M. Rau of the Philadelphia Court of Common 

Pleas (Retired), was a partner in a law firm in which another partner represented 

Defendant Cook in post-conviction proceedings. Petitioner Faulkner’s attorneys do 

not claim that Judge Rau has ever represented Defendant Cook, and in fact she has 

never done so. Further, Judge Rau is not a member of the District Attorney’s Of-

fice.   
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Mr. Coard, however, has never been a member of the District Attorney’s Of-

fice (Prabhakaran Affidavit, ¶ 7).7 He did publicly endorse the District Attorney 

(who was then just a candidate) during his campaign and did serve on his transition 

committee.8 However, a wide variety of individuals and groups publicly endorsed 

the District Attorney during his campaign (see id., ¶ 3). They included persons 

such as the Mayor of Philadelphia, state representatives, city councilpersons, 

members of the clergy, and various community leaders; and organizations such as 

the Guardian Civic League of Philadelphia, the Philadelphia Federation of Teach-

ers, academic organizations, and numerous labor unions.9 Similarly, a variety of 

individuals served on the District Attorney’s transition committee, including for-

mer Philadelphia District Attorney and Chief Justice Ronald D. Castille, and for-

mer Philadelphia Police Commissioner Sylvester Johnson (id., ¶ 6), neither of 

whom is known to be a supporter of Defendant Cook or opposed to the police.  

                                            
7  See Affidavit of Arun S. Prabhakaran, Chief of Staff of the Philadelphia Dis-

trict Attorney’s Office, attached as Exhibit D. 

 
8  Petitioner Faulkner’s attorneys point out that the campaign’s website in-

cludes a video of Mr. Coard explaining why he was endorsing the District Attorney 

(King’s Bench Petition, 21-22). Mr. Coard does not mention Defendant Cook or 

this case during the video.  

 
9  See Krasner for District Attorney website endorsements page, 

https://krasnerforda.com/endorsements (last visited November 26, 2019), attached 

as Exhibit E. 

 

https://krasnerforda.com/endorsements
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As the District Attorney’s Chief of Staff explains in his affidavit,10 one of 

the goals of the campaign was to obtain endorsements from a diverse group of in-

dividuals and groups; ultimately, over 40 organizations and numerous individuals 

endorsed the campaign (id., ¶ 3). Similarly, one of the goals of the transition was to 

obtain wide-ranging input and support from a diverse group of individuals and 

groups (id., ¶ 4). The District Attorney and his staff also endeavored to put together 

a transition committee that included individuals with a variety of perspectives re-

garding the criminal justice system (id., ¶ 5).  

This latter point is made clear by the very article that Mrs. Faulkner’s attor-

neys attach to their petition to show that Mr. Coard has advocated on Defendant 

Cook’s behalf. In that article, Mr. Coard criticizes Chief Justice Castille—a fellow 

member of the Krasner transition committee—for his involvement in this case 

(King’s Bench Petition, Exhibit K). Mr. Coard also asserts in the article that De-

fendant Cook is not guilty of the murder of Officer Faulkner and that the PCRA 

court should reinstate his prior PCRA appeals because they were considered by 

this Court while Justice Castille was on the bench (King’s Bench Petition, 21; and 

King’s Bench Petition, Exhibit K). Justice Castille, of course, was the District At-

torney when the Office successfully defended Defendant Cook’s convictions on 

                                            
10  Mr. Prabhakaran previously served as a high-ranking volunteer advisor to 

the District Attorney’s campaign and later directed the District Attorney’s transi-

tion committee (see Prabhakaran Affidavit, ¶ 2). 
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direct appeal, and later, as a Supreme Court justice, he repeatedly voted to affirm 

the orders denying Defendant Cook PCRA relief.  

Mrs. Faulkner’s attorneys ignore the fact that after taking office, the current 

District Attorney argued in the PCRA court that Justice Castille’s involvement in 

the prior appeals did not provide a basis for reinstating the PCRA appeals, and the 

current District Attorney asked the PCRA court to deny relief and uphold Defend-

ant Cook’s conviction.11 In other words, in this very case, the Philadelphia District 

Attorney opposed the positions advocated by Mr. Coard. This shows that, contrary 

to what Mrs. Faulkner’s attorneys claim, the District Attorney is not beholden to 

Mr. Coard’s views, and the fact that he endorsed the District Attorney and served 

on the transition committee does not mean that the District Attorney is somehow 

biased in favor of Defendant Cook.       

 c. Jody Dodd. 

Petitioner Faulkner’s attorneys claim that Jody Dodd, a non-attorney mem-

ber of the District Attorney’s Office, was previously “an active and vocal member 

of ‘the International Concerned Family and Friends of Mumia Abu-Jamal’ 

(‘Friends of Mumia’)” (King’s Bench Petition, 20). According to Petitioner Faulk-

                                            
11  A sample of the documents the current District Attorney filed in the PCRA 

court opposing Defendant Cook’s request for PCRA relief is attached to this re-

sponse as Exhibits F, G, and H. 
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ner’s attorneys, this group “describes itself on its website as a ‘collective of indi-

viduals and groups in the New York metropolitan area organizing for the freedom 

of [Defendant Cook] based on the overwhelming evidence of his innocence’” (id.) 

(footnote and citation omitted). 

Contrary to what Mrs. Faulkner’s attorneys claim, Ms. Dodd has never been 

a member of the above group (Dodd Affidavit, ¶ 2).12 Before joining the District 

Attorney’s Office, Ms. Dodd volunteered with Up Against the Law (id., ¶ 3). Up 

Against the Law provides support to groups in the context of those groups’ exer-

cise of their First Amendment right to protest (id., 4). This support is available to 

any protest group as long as it does not promote racism, sexism, or homophobia 

(id.). The support consists of know your rights training, legal observing, and assis-

tance with lawyers in the event someone is arrested while protesting (id.). It was in 

this context that Up Against the Law provided support to the “Friends of Mumia” 

group (id.). As a volunteer organization, Up Against the Law does not advocate the 

views expressed by the protestors; it simply supports the people’s right to protest 

(id.).  

The fact that Ms. Dodd volunteered for an organization that provided sup-

port to “Friends of Mumia,” among other groups, in the context of that group’s ex-

ercise of its right to protest, does not mean that Ms. Dodd has publicly supported 

                                            
12  See Affidavit of Jody Dodd, Attached as Exhibit I. 
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the group’s claim that Defendant Cook is “innocent.” But even if she had publicly 

supported that group’s allegation regarding Defendant Cook’s alleged “innocence,” 

that would not require removal of the District Attorney’s Office from this case. 

This is because, as she states in her affidavit (Dodd Affidavit, ¶ 5), Ms. Dodd has 

not been involved in the Office’s handling of the case. See Commonwealth v. 

Faulkner, supra (disqualification of prosecutor’s office was not required, even 

though the office hired an investigator who had been part of the defense team and 

had discussed the case with the defendant on several occasions, where the investi-

gator was not involved in the prosecution of the case). 

d. The District Attorney’s criticism of former prosecutors. 

Petitioner Faulkner contends that the District Attorney’s Office is laboring 

under a conflict of interest due to criticism the District Attorney had for some of 

the prosecutors who formerly worked in the Office (King’s Bench Petition, 2-3, 

18-19). Petitioner Faulkner’s attorneys state that the District Attorney “has publicly 

referred to former Philadelphia prosecutors, who now work for the State Attorney 

General, as ‘war criminals’ as a result of their work as prosecutors in Philadelphia” 

(id. at 18-19) (footnote omitted). As Petitioner Faulkner’s attorneys describe it, 

“[t]wo of the lawyers [the District Attorney] has characterized as ‘war criminals’—

Hugh Burns, Esquire and Ron Eisenberg, Esquire—both worked on defending the 

guilty verdict in [Defendant Cook’s] case” (id. at 19).  
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Contrary to what Mrs. Faulkner’s attorneys claim, the District Attorney’s 

comments do not somehow show that he has a conflict of interest with regard to 

this case. The “war criminals” comment was hyperbolic humor about a very seri-

ous topic (prosecutorial misconduct, often in the form of egregious Brady13 viola-

tions at trial, that was responsible for the convictions and decades-long sentences 

of, to date, ten apparently innocent people whose exonerations have been court-

approved in the new administration). The comment contained no reference to Mr. 

Burns or Mr. Eisenberg; it did not refer to this particular case; and it did not make 

any mention of the above prosecutors’ handling of the case. 

In almost any situation where, as occurred in Philadelphia, an outsider is 

elected as district attorney to reform an office perceived to have committed abuses, 

that district attorney is bound to have offered harsh criticism of some of the former 

administration’s prosecutors. Mrs. Faulkner’s attorneys have not provided any 

support for the notion that in those situations the new administration is prohibited 

from handling any of the cases previously prosecuted by any of the attorneys who 

may have been criticized. Such a rule (were it to exist) would seriously undermine 

the very will of the people who elected the new district attorney precisely because 

he promised to remedy those past abuses. Here, the District Attorney did not criti-

                                            
13  Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). 
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cize any of the former attorneys for their work on this case; thus, his criticism can-

not be seen as any sort of bias in regard to the case. 

e. The Communication Director’s tweet. 

 Earlier this year, the Philadelphia Inquirer ran an article about a Fraternal 

Order of Police-led protest regarding the District Attorney’s Office’s handling of 

this case.14 The article included a photograph of some of the protest participants, a 

number of whom were prominently holding what appeared to be professionally 

printed signs saying “Dump Krasner.” In response to the photograph, the Office’s 

Communications Director sent out a tweet criticizing the lack of diversity among 

the protestors depicted in it.15 She deleted the tweet, at the District Attorney’s di-

rection, immediately after it was brought to his attention (Prabhakaran Affidavit, ¶ 

10).16 

 Petitioner Faulkner’s attorneys assert that the tweet shows the District Attor-

ney’s Office’s supposed bias in this case. They are wrong. The Communications 

Director’s tweet was not authorized by the District Attorney or any of the prosecu-

tors involved in this case. In fact, as the Chief of Staff explains in his affidavit, 

                                            
14  Petitioner Faulkner was also involved in the protest. 

 
15  Petitioner Faulkner is not in the photograph. 

 
16  See Affidavit of Arun S. Prabhakaran, Chief of Staff of the Philadelphia Dis-

trict Attorney’s Office, attached as Exhibit D.  
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when he became aware of the tweet, he brought it to the District Attorney’s atten-

tion; the District Attorney determined that it violated the Office’s established So-

cial Media Policy; the District Attorney spoke with the Communications Director 

about the matter; and the Communications Director was provided written notice 

that her tweet violated the Office’s media policy (Prabhakaran Affidavit, ¶¶ 11-14). 

Thus, contrary to what Mrs. Faulkner’s attorneys claim, the inappropriate tweet 

cannot be taken as showing that the District Attorney’s Office has a conflict of in-

terest in this case.  

3. The District Attorney’s strategic decision to not oppose 

Defendant Cook’s remand request. 

 

 Petitioner Faulkner has failed to identify any conflicts of interest requiring 

the District Attorney’s Office’s disqualification from this case. At bottom, it ap-

pears that her request to have the Office removed is based on nothing more than 

her disagreement with (or misunderstanding of) a strategic decision made by the 

Office. Specifically, Mrs. Faulkner is displeased that the Office did not oppose De-

fendant Cook’s request for the case to be remanded to the PCRA court for the con-

sideration of alleged newly-discovered evidence.17 Petitioner Faulkner’s disagree-

ment with this decision is not a basis for removing the Office from the case. 

                                            
17  As explained above, almost all of the facts that Mrs. Faulkner relies upon to 

argue that the District Attorney’s Office has a conflict of interest were known (or 

knowable) to her when this case was in the PCRA court. Mrs. Faulkner, however, 

(footnote continued . . . ) 
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 The relevant facts are as follows: While Defendant Cook’s fifth PCRA peti-

tion was pending in the PCRA court, the PCRA court judge directed the Philadel-

phia District Attorney’s Office to produce for his review its complete file for the 

case. The Office subsequently provided the PCRA court judge with 32 boxes, 

which it believed constituted the complete file. 

 After the PCRA court reinstated Defendant Cook’s appellate rights, the Dis-

trict Attorney’s Office discovered six additional boxes containing documents relat-

ing to this case. These six boxes had been stored in a different location than the 32 

boxes previously turned over to the PCRA court. The District Attorney’s Office 

informed the PCRA court judge that it had discovered these additional boxes, and, 

in the interests of full transparency, it made them available to Defendant Cook’s 

attorneys for review.  

 Defendant Cook subsequently filed his appellate brief in the Superior Court 

for his reinstated PCRA appeals. On that same date, he also filed a motion for a 

remand to the PCRA court to consider what he contends is newly-discovered evi-

dence his attorneys found while reviewing the contents of the six boxes. The al-

leged newly-discovered evidence consists of a letter written by an eyewitness to 

                                                                                                                                             

did not seek removal of the District Attorney’s Office in that court. Instead, as she 

concedes in her petition, it was the Office’s decision not to oppose Defendant 

Cook’s remand request that led her to seek the Office’s removal from the case (see 

King’s Bench Petition, 5).   
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the trial prosecutor asking about money supposedly owed to him; handwritten 

notes Defendant Cook contends show the prosecutor kept track of the races of the 

prospective jurors during jury selection; and documents relating to the prosecution 

of a second eyewitness’s prostitution cases. Defendant Cook stated that these new-

ly-discovered documents relate to the claims he has raised in his present appeal be-

fore the Superior Court. Accordingly, he asked the Superior Court to remand the 

case to the PCRA court so it could consider the alleged new evidence. 

 The District Attorney’s Office filed a response to Defendant Cook’s remand 

motion. In the response it stated that, “[w]ithout, at the present time, taking a posi-

tion on the relevance and/or significance of these newly-discovered documents, the 

Commonwealth does not oppose a remand so that the documents may be presented 

to the PCRA court.”18 The Superior Court subsequently entered an order stating 

that it was deferring decision on Defendant Cook’s remand motion to the panel as-

signed to decide the merits of his appeal (and so the motion there pends). 

 In the King’s Bench petition, Mrs. Faulkner’s attorneys assert that by not 

opposing the remand motion, the District Attorney’s Office has essentially “re-

fuse[d] to carry out [its] responsibility to enforce the law and defend the prosecu-

tion of a stone-cold murderer” (King’s Bench Petition, 5). Unfortunately, Mrs. 

                                            
18  Commonwealth’s Response to Defendant’s Motion for Remand to the 

PCRA Court to Consider Newly-Discovered Evidenced, attached as Exhibit A. 
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Faulkner’s attorneys have, once again, made an exaggerated allegation that simply 

is not true.  

 The District Attorney’s Office did not oppose the remand request because it 

desires to bring the case to a conclusion as expeditiously as possible. Defendant 

Cook has claimed that the “newly-discovered evidence” relates to the issues raised 

in his current appeal. Were the District Attorney’s Office to oppose the remand re-

quest, and were the Superior Court to deny the remand request, then once the cur-

rent round of appeals is completed, Defendant Cook would no doubt file yet anoth-

er PCRA petition based on the supposed new evidence. This would then entail an-

other whole round of PCRA and appellate proceedings regarding issues similar to 

those currently on appeal.  

 The District Attorney’s Office’s desire to bring this case to a conclusion in 

the quickest way possible is fully reasonable. As her own attorneys state, Mrs. 

Faulkner “has had to endure [Defendant Cook’s] seemingly never ending, serial 

appeals and PCRA petitions over the course of the last 38 years” (King’s Bench 

Petition, 16). The District Attorney’s Office believed that opposing the remand re-

quest would do nothing more than to extend the litigation for many more years, 

which is something neither the District Attorney nor Mrs. Faulkner desires.  

 It is notable that in a different section and context of the King’s Bench peti-

tion, Mrs. Faulkner’s attorneys acknowledge that after Defendant Cook’s death 
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sentence was vacated, a prior administration decided not to re-seek the death penal-

ty (King’s Bench Petition, 15). According to Mrs. Faulkner’s attorneys, this deci-

sion was made “in an effort to bring this matter to a close after nearly 30 years” of 

litigation (id.). Mrs. Faulkner’s attorneys reference this prior decision without of-

fering any criticism of it, even though, unlike the current District Attorney’s deci-

sion regarding a procedural matter, that decision effectively granted substantive re-

lief to Defendant Cook. The current District Attorney is similarly not criticizing the 

prior administration’s decision not to re-seek the death penalty “in an effort to 

bring this matter to a close” (id.). He makes this observation simply to demonstrate 

that his own desire to bring this matter to a close as soon as possible is not at all 

remarkable. 

 A second reason for the District Attorney’s decision not to oppose Defend-

ant’ Cook’s remand request was its conclusion that a remand might be the best way 

to address the claims regarding the “newly-discovered evidence.” If the Superior 

Court granted the remand and if the PCRA court determined that an evidentiary 

hearing was necessary, the District Attorney’s Office planned to present the trial 

prosecutor, Joseph McGill, Esquire, at that hearing. Defendant Cook’s newly-

discovered-evidence claims all involve Mr. McGill. Mr. McGill (like many who 

were involved in Defendant Cook’s trial) is advancing in age. Thus, the District 

Attorney believed it would be advantageous to obtain his testimony now, while he 



 29 

is unquestionably available, than it would be to push this issue years down the road 

when, due to the passage of time, he may no longer be available to testify.  

 Petitioner Faulkner’s attorneys seem to believe that the Philadelphia District 

Attorney could have “contested the legitimacy of the so-called ‘new evidence’” in 

the Superior Court (see King’s Bench Petition, 4). They do so by pointing to the 

numerous factual statements Mr. McGill makes in his affidavit regarding Defend-

ant Cook’s claims. What Mrs. Faulkner’s attorneys fail to appreciate, however, is 

that the Superior Court is not a fact-finding court. Thus, a remand to the PCRA 

court would be necessary so a fact finder (the PCRA court judge) could determine 

their credibility. It was for this reason too that the District Attorney did not oppose 

Defendant Cook’s remand motion.  

 That the District Attorney agreed to a remand in this case as part of a strate-

gic decision is not at all without precedent. For example, in 1997, a different Phila-

delphia District Attorney (the Honorable Lynne Abraham) informed this Court she 

did not oppose “a limited remand [to the PCRA court] for the purpose of taking 

any relevant and admissible testimony with respect to these [Defendant Cook’s] 

withheld allegations.”19 The prior District Attorney did not oppose the remand be-

                                            
19  Commonwealth’s Answer to Defendant [Cook’s] Petition for a Second Pre-

Appeal Remand, ¶ 5, filed April 14, 1997, attached as Exhibit J. 
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cause she believed it would be the best way to conclusively dispose of Defendant 

Cook’s claim.20  

 The present District Attorney similarly decided not to oppose Defendant 

Cook’s most recent remand request because he believed a remand could be the best 

and most expeditious way to resolve this matter. The District Attorney understands 

that Mrs. Faulkner may not agree with this strategic decision. That disagreement, 

however, does not provide a basis for removing the District Attorney from this 

case. Cf. Commonwealth v. Williams, 980 A.2d at 521-22 (the fact that the defend-

ant might fault the strategy pursued by his attorney, did not mean that the attorney 

was acting under a conflict of interest).  

4. The case law supplied by Mrs. Faulkner’s attorney’s 

does not support her claim. 

 

 Mrs. Faulkner’s attorneys fail to identify any cases that demonstrate that 

disqualification of the District Attorney’s Office would be proper here. Curiously, 

the case they devote the most attention to is Commonwealth v. Robinson, 204 A.3d 

326 (Pa. 2018) (see King’s Bench Petition, 25-28, 31-33). Mrs. Faulkner’s attor-

neys appear to be unaware that the four justices who heard the case were “equally 

divided.” Commonwealth v. Robinson, 204 A.3d at 326 (per curiam order). Thus, 

the PCRA court’s dismissal of Robinson’s PCRA petition (which was preceded by 

                                            
20  See Exhibit J, ¶ 5.   
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its denial of his motion to remove the district attorney’s office due to an alleged 

conflict of interest) was affirmed. Id. Additionally, this Court’s per curiam order 

denied Robinson’s motion to disqualify the district attorney’s office, finding the 

issue was moot. Id. 

 The Robinson opinion that Mrs. Faulkner’s attorneys rely on is the two-

justice opinion in support of reversal (OISR). Being one opinion of an equally di-

vided Court, it carries no precedential value—a point Mrs. Faulkner’s attorneys fail 

to acknowledge. But even if it did, it would not require the District Attorney’s Of-

fice’s removal in this case. In Robinson, the OISR would have held that the Cum-

berland County District Attorney’s Office should have been removed from the case 

because the then-current District Attorney and the previous District Attorney them-

selves had personal conflicts of interest with respect to the case. In the present mat-

ter, on the contrary, Petitioner Faulkner has failed to demonstrate that the Philadel-

phia District Attorney himself has a personal conflict of interest with respect to this 

case. Thus, the OISR does not support her claim that removal of the District Attor-

ney’s Office is required.  

 For this same reason, Petitioner Faulkner’s reliance on Commonwealth v. 

Eskridge, 604 A.2d 700 (Pa. 1992), and Commonwealth v. Lowery, 460 A.2d 720 

(Pa. 1983), is misplaced. In Eskridge the District Attorney himself had a conflict of 

interest because he “had a direct financial interest in obtaining [the] conviction.” 
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Id. at 701. Thus, the entire prosecutor’s office had to be disqualified. Similarly, in 

Lowery, the District Attorney himself had a conflict of interest because he had rep-

resented the defendant in that case prior to taking office. Thus, the entire office had 

to be disqualified. Here, unlike in Eskridge and Lowery, the Philadelphia District 

Attorney himself does not have a financial interest in this case and he has not rep-

resented Defendant Cook. Thus, unlike in those cases, there is no basis for disqual-

ifying the entire office.  

 In Commonwealth v. Briggs, 12 A.3d 291 (Pa. 2011), another cased cited by 

Mrs. Faulkner’s attorneys, this Court upheld the Bradford County District Attor-

ney’s decision to recuse his office under the Commonwealth Attorneys Act. There, 

the district attorney represented that he did not have sufficient resources to prose-

cute the case due to its magnitude and complexity. He further acknowledged that 

he had a personal conflict of interest because he had a “close personal relationship” 

with the victims, and there was a possibility he would testify at trial. Id. at 329-31. 

In the present case, the Philadelphia District Attorney has not invoked the Com-

monwealth Attorneys Act, and there is no reason for him to do so. His office has 

sufficient resources to prosecute the matter, and he does not have a personal con-
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flict of interest with respect to it. Thus, Briggs, just like the other cases Mrs. 

Faulkner’s attorneys cite, provides no support to her claim.21     

 5. The Allegation of an “appearance of impropriety.”  

 Implicitly acknowledging they have failed to demonstrate any actual con-

flicts of interest requiring removal of the District Attorney’s Office, Mrs. Faulk-

ner’s attorneys claim the Office should be disqualified under an “appearance of 

impropriety” standard (King’s Bench Petition, 25). This Court, however, has held 

that a prosecutor may be removed from a case only when an “actual impropriety” 

is demonstrated. Commonwealth v. Breakiron, 729 A.2d 1088, 1092 & n. 2 (Pa. 

1999) (removal of the prosecutor was not warranted where the appellant “did not 

meet his burden of showing that there was any actual impropriety in [the prosecu-

                                            
21  Petitioner Faulkner’s attorneys attach to their King’s Bench petition a mo-

tion the Philadelphia District Attorney filed in a case completely unrelated to the 

present one in which the District Attorney argued that the trial judge should be dis-

qualified from the case. Petitioner Faulkner’s attorneys somehow think that this 

motion lends weight to their claim that the District Attorney’s Office should be 

disqualified from the present matter. It does not. The motion to disqualify the judge 

is based on the fact that the judge’s domestic partner previously worked for the 

District Attorney’s Office and that after her employment there ended, she filed a 

complaint with the Pennsylvania Human Relations Commission claiming that the 

Office had discriminated against her based on her race. At the time the District At-

torney filed the disqualification motion, the dispute between the judge’s domestic 

partner and the Office was ongoing. The present case does not involve facts that 

are even remotely similar to those involved in the case in which the District Attor-

ney has filed the disqualification motion. Petitioner Faulkner’s attorneys’ reliance 

on the motion is non-sensical.   
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tor’s] conduct;” distinguishing the case from others where there was an “actual 

conflict”).22  

 In any event, even if the “appearance of impropriety” standard applied to 

prosecutors, removal of the District Attorney’s Office would, still, not be warrant-

ed. In this case, try as they might, Mrs. Faulkner’s attorneys have not demonstrated 

an “appearance of impropriety” with respect to the District Attorney’s handling of 

the matter. Instead, what her attorneys have done is attempted to manufacture an 

appearance of impropriety by repeatedly misrepresenting the facts and assigning 

nefarious and inaccurate motives to the Office’s actions. The District Attorney has 

spent the bulk of this response responding to each of the claims advanced by Mrs. 

Faulkner’s attorneys and demonstrating that, in almost every instance, things are 

not what they make them out to be.  

The District Attorney agrees that this case is a “polarizing” one (King’s 

Bench Petition, 12). It has been that way from well before the current District At-

torney took office. That Mrs. Faulkner’s attorneys have included so many careless 

                                            
22  In Commonwealth v. Robinson, supra, the two-justice opinion in support of 

reversal (OISR) noted that Breakiron’s “actual impropriety” standard “arguably 

conflicts with the Canon 1 of the Code of Judicial Conduct and the statute making 

the canons applicable to prosecutors.” Robinson, 204 A.3d at 349 n.26 (OISR). The 

Robinson OISR, however, explicitly declined to discuss this question beyond 

pointing out the apparent conflict. Id.  
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accusations in their petition does not help matters, and it certainly does not provide 

a basis for disqualifying the District Attorney’s Office.  

6. Summation. 

 Under our state constitution, it is up to the people of each county to elect 

their local district attorney. Pa. Const. Art. 9, § 4; accord McGinley v. Scott, 164 

A.2d 424, 431 (Pa. 1960) (“A district attorney is a constitutional officer, elected by 

the people of the county which he serves”). Two years ago, the citizens of Phila-

delphia chose District Attorney Larry Krasner to represent the Commonwealth in 

their county and to “seek justice” on their behalf. Commonwealth v. D’Amato, 526 

A.2d 300, 314 (Pa. 1987) (the prosecutor’s duty “is to seek justice”). Before a pri-

vate individual—even a crime victim—may thwart the will of the people and have 

an elected prosecutor removed from a case, a high burden should be required. In 

this case, the Philadelphia District Attorney respectfully submits, that burden has 

not been met. Accordingly, the petition for King’s Bench jurisdiction should be 

denied.     
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CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, the Philadelphia District Attorney respectfully re-

quests that this Court deny the petition for King’s Bench jurisdiction.  

      Respectfully submitted, 

 

      /s/ Grady Gervino 

 

      GRADY GERVINO 

      Assistant District Attorney 

      LAWRENCE J. GOODE 

      Supervisor, Appeals Unit 

      NANCY WINKELMAN 

      Supervisor, Law Division 

      CAROLYN ENGEL TEMIN 

      First Assistant District Attorney 

LAWRENCE S. KRASNER 

      District Attorney of Philadelphia 
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